| 1  | Marc J. Randazza (NV Bar No. 12265)<br>Alex J. Shepard (NV Bar No. 13582)           |  |        |
|----|---|--|--------|
| 2  | RANDAZZA LEGAL GROUP, PLLC<br>4035 S. El Capitan Way                                |  |        |
| 3  | Las Vegas, NV 89147<br>Telephone: 702-420-2001                                      | Electronically File<br>Mar 06 2018 04:3<br>Elizabeth A. Brow | 4 p.m. |
| 4  | Facsimile: 305-437-7662 ecf@randazza.com  | Clerk of Supreme   |        |
| 5  | Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant Darrell T. Coker                                  |  |        |
| 6  | Burrett 1. Collect  |  |        |
| 7  | IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA   |  |        |

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On September 2, 2016, Appellee, Marco Sassone, filed a Complaint with the district court against Appellant Darrell T. Coker and multiple other parties that have since been dismissed. (Appellant's Appendix 1.) Appellee amended his complaint on October 3, 2016. (Id. at 21.) Mr. Coker removed the matter to the United States District Court for the District of Nevada on December 30, 2016. (Id. at 39.) Appellee voluntarily dismissed two of his claims with prejudice on January 20, 2017. (Id. at 46.) The federal court remanded the matter back to the state district court on March 13, 2017. (Id. at 49.) Following remand, Mr. Coker filed a Special Motion to Dismiss on March 16, 2017, seeking to dismiss all of Appellee's claims pursuant to NRS 41.660. (*Id.* at 114.) The district court heard this motion on June 20, 2017 and took the motion under advisement. The court subsequently issued a minute order denying the motion on July 20, 2017 (id. at 325) and entered an order denying Mr. Coker's Special Motion to Dismiss on August 23, 2017. (*Id.* at 327.)

Appellant Darrell T. Coker appeals the district court's order denying his Special Motion to Dismiss under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute, NRS 41.660. Pursuant to NRS 41.670(4), "[i]f the [district] court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme

| Court."  | Because the district court denied Mr. Coker's Special Motion to Dismiss, |
|----------|--|
| the Supr | eme Court has appellate jurisdiction over this matter.                   |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |
|          |  |

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT PURSUANT TO NRAP 28(a)(5)**

This appeal should be presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to the following:

- (1) NRS 41.670(4) which states: "If the court denies the special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to NRS 41.660, an interlocutory appeal lies to the Supreme Court."
- (2) NRAP 17(a)(14), as the matter raises as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance, namely, whether the distribution of artistic works in the public domain constitutes a communication in direct connection with an issue of public concern under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute.

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

5

6

8

9

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues on appeal are as follows:

- **(1)** Whether distribution of artistic works that, by available record evidence, are in the public domain is conduct protected under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute, NRS 41.635, et seq.
- **(2)** Whether a party establishes his burden of proof under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP statute by providing a sworn declaration regarding the truthfulness of his communication, or lack of awareness of his communication, that is not rebutted by any admissible evidence.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 2, 2016, Appellee, Marco Sassone, filed a Complaint with the district court against Appellant Darrell T. Coker; Darrell R. Coker, Jr.; Richard Morello; Darryl McCullough; And The Jello's Jigglin, LLC d/b/a Postal Annex; and unnamed John Doe and Roe defendants, and brought claims for (1) violation of NRS 598.0915, Nevada's Deceptive Trade Practices Act; (2) NRS 597.790, Nevada's right of publicity statute; (3) violation of Nevada RICO, §207.400(1)(j); (4) violation of Nevada RICO, §207.400(1)(c)(1); and (5) violation of NRS 597.740, Nevada's works of art statute. (Appellant's Appendix 1.) Appellee amended his complaint on October 3, 2016, but alleged the same causes of action against the same parties. (*Id.* at 21.)

Appellee's claims were based on an alleged joint venture by which Mr. Coker allegedly created and sold forgeries of Appellee's artistic works, selling them to unsuspecting customers who were not aware they were fakes. This was never true, however. Mr. Coker purchased reproductions of works of art created by Appellee from a third party, Michael Schofield, and then re-sold these reproductions, thinking he had the legal right to do so. (*Id.* at 231.) At no point did Mr. Coker create any allegedly fraudulent reproductions, nor did Mr. Coker at any point create forge anyone's signature in connection with the sale of these reproductions. (*Id.* at 231.) In fact, there is an open question as to whether

3

4

5

6

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Appellee even owns the works in question, as the works do not have copyright registrations and Appellee has provided no evidence of ownership. Furthermore, Appellee has provided no evidence at all to support any of his factual allegations.

Mr. Coker removed the matter to the United States District Court for the District of Nevada on December 30, 2016. (Id. at 39.) While the matter was before the federal court, Appellee voluntarily dismissed his right of publicity and works of art claims with prejudice on January 20, 2017. (Id. at 46.) The federal court remanded the matter back to the state district court on March 13, 2017. (Id. at 49.) Following remand, Mr. Coker filed a Special Motion to Dismiss on March 16, 2017, seeking to dismiss all of Appellee's claims pursuant to NRS 41.660. (Id. at 114.) Defendants Darryl McCullough and And The Jello's Jigglin, LLC joined the Special Motion to Dismiss on March 28, 2017. (*Id.* at 126.) The district court heard this motion on June 20, 2017 and took the motion under advisement. The court subsequently issued a minute order denying the motion on July 20, 2017 (id. at 325) and entered an order denying Mr. Coker's Special Motion to Dismiss on August 23, 2017. (*Id.* at 327.)

In denying Mr. Coker's Anti-SLAPP motion, the Court summarily found that Mr. Coker did not meet his burden under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis. It simply stated that "[w]hen bringing an Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660, it is the Defendants' burden to establish, by a

| preponderance of the evidence, that their conduct was a good faith communication    |  |  |
|---|--|--|
| that was either truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. Defendants     |  |  |
| have not met that burden." (Id. at 333.) The court provided no explanation of       |  |  |
| how Mr. Coker's declaration was insufficient to meet his burden, and no             |  |  |
| explanation of how, if at all, Appellee's evidence rebutted Mr. Coker's evidentiary |  |  |
| showing. Furthermore, the court provided no analysis whatsoever as to whether       |  |  |
| Mr. Coker's conduct of disseminating artistic works constituted communications      |  |  |
| in furtherance of the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of    |  |  |
| public concern, as required under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis.       |  |  |

#### **STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS**

#### 1.0 The Dispute Between the Parties

This is factually a very simple case. Appellee is a professional artist who allegedly created a series of artistic works reproduced in a monograph book originally published in 1979. (Appellant's Appendix 22-23, at ¶10-13.) Mr. Coker purchased reproductions of artistic works allegedly created by Appellee and featured in this monograph book from a bulk art supplier named Michael Schofield. (*Id.* at 231, at ¶2.) Mr. Coker did not personally create any of the copies of the works in question (*Id.* at ¶3.) He thought the reproductions he purchased from Mr. Schofield were legitimate or otherwise legal to buy and sell. (*Id.* at ¶5.)

Despite claiming ownership of the artistic works in question, there is no record evidence that Appellee has legal rights in any of the allegedly infringed works. None of the works in question have been registered with the U.S. Copyright Office. (*Id.* at 109.)

#### 2.0 The Proceedings Below

On September 2, 2016, Appellee, Marco Sassone, filed a Complaint with the district court against Appellant Darrell T. Coker; Darrell R. Coker, Jr.; Richard Morello; Darryl McCullough; And The Jello's Jigglin, LLC d/b/a Postal Annex; and unnamed John Doe and Roe defendants, and brought claims for (1) violation

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

| of NRS 598.0915, Nevada's Deceptive Trade Practices Act; (2) NRS 597.790           |
|--|
| Nevada's right of publicity statute; (3) violation of Nevada RICO, § 207.400(1)(j) |
| (4) violation of Nevada RICO, § 207.400(1)(c)(1); and (5) violation of NRS         |
| 597.740, Nevada's works of art statute. (Appellant's Appendix 1.) Appelled         |
| amended his complaint on October 3, 2016, but alleged the same causes of action    |
| against the same parties. ( <i>Id.</i> at 21.)                                     |

Mr. Coker removed the matter to the United States District Court for the District of Nevada on December 30, 2016. (Id. at 39.) While the matter was before the federal court, Appellee voluntarily dismissed his right of publicity and works of art claims with prejudice on January 20, 2017. (Id. at 46.) The federal court remanded the matter back to the state district court on March 13, 2017. (Id. at 49.) Following remand, Mr. Coker filed a Special Motion to Dismiss on March 16, 2017, seeking to dismiss all of Appellee's claims pursuant to NRS 41.660. (Id. at 114.) Defendants Darryl McCullough and And The Jello's Jigglin, LLC joined the Special Motion to Dismiss on March 28, 2017. (Id. at 126.) The district court heard this motion on June 20, 2017 and took the motion under advisement. The court subsequently issued a minute order denying the motion on July 20, 2017 (id. at 325) and entered an order denying Mr. Coker's Special Motion to Dismiss on August 23, 2017. (*Id.* at 327.)

18

19

20

1

2

3

In support of his Anti-SLAPP motion, Mr. Coker provided a declaration stating that he purchased from the allegedly fraudulent artistic works at issue from a build art supplier named Michael Schofield, that he did not personally create any of the copies of the works in question, and that he thought the reproductions he purchased from Mr. Schofield were legitimate or otherwise legal to buy and sell. (Id. at 231, at ¶¶2-5.) He also provided copies of the canceled checks he used to pay Mr. Schofield for these copies. (Id. at 233.)1 Appellee made no attempt to rebut the statements in this declaration, and did not make any evidentiary objections or challenges to the admissibility of the declaration. Instead, Sassone's opposition consisted of irrelevant and inadmissible evidence, primarily relying on declarations from third parties who allegedly purchased copies of the allegedly fraudulent works at Appellee's direction, and testifying as to the contents of documents without attaching copies of them. (Id. at 129.) Appellee then belatedly attempted to supplement the record on July 18, 2017 in a response to a notice of supplemental authority Mr. Coker filed on July 14, 2017, by attaching an unauthenticated and largely illegible document that was a purportedly fraudulent certificate of authenticity that accompanied the reproductions Mr. Coker sold. (Id. at 315 and 323.) At no point in these proceedings, or at any other point in the case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Coker also incorporated by reference at page 10 of the Anti-SLAPP Motion records of the U.S. Copyright Office showing that there were no copyright registrations for the works at issue in this case. (*Id.* at 108)

2

3

4

5

6

8

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

before either the federal or state district court, did Appellee provide any evidence establishing that he owned the rights to any of the works in question.

In denying Mr. Coker's Anti-SLAPP motion, the Court summarily found that Mr. Coker did not meet his burden under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis. It simply stated that "[w]hen bringing an Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660, it is the Defendants' burden to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that their conduct was a good faith communication that was either truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. Defendants have not met that burden." (Id. at 333.) The court provided no explanation of how Mr. Coker's declaration was insufficient to meet his burden, and no explanation of how, if at all, Appellee's evidence rebutted Mr. Coker's evidentiary In fact, the court made no determinations at all as to Mr. Coker's numerous objections to the admissibility of Appellee's evidence, making it impossible to determine to what extent the court relied on inadmissible evidence in deciding the motion. Furthermore, the court provided no analysis whatsoever as to whether Mr. Coker's conduct of disseminating artistic works constituted communications in furtherance of the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern, as required under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

NRS 41.637 defines conduct that is protected under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute. It provides, in relevant part, that a "[c]ommunication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum, which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood," is protected. NRS 41.637(4). A party bringing an Anti-SLAPP motion need only show that its conduct falls under this definition by a preponderance of the evidence, and a district court deciding an Anti-SLAPP motion is supposed to treat it like a motion for summary judgment, meaning it considers but does not weigh evidence.

Mr. Coker purchased reproductions of a small number of works of art created by Appellee from a third party, thinking that they were legitimate copies and that he had the legal right to buy and sell them. Mr. Coker provided a declaration clearly laying out these facts, and Appellee provided nothing to rebut it. Furthermore, Mr. Coker provided documentation showing that there were no copyright registrations for the artistic works at issue, meaning there is a reasonable chance either that the works are in the public domain, or that someone other than Appellee must bring these claims. Appellee did not contest this lack of registration, and in fact did not provide any evidence that he owned the rights to any of the works at issue. What evidence Appellee did provide was largely

irrelevant or inadmissible, and did not address or refute any of the statements in Mr. Coker's declaration.

Given the evidentiary record before it, the district court had no basis for finding that Mr. Coker had not met his burden under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis. His declaration clearly laid out his good-faith basis for purchasing and selling the works at issue, and Appellee provided no admissible evidence showing that Mr. Coker engaged in any of the allegedly fraudulent of which he was accused. The court also failed to provide any discussion as to whether Mr. Coker satisfied the other elements of his evidentiary burden under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis, which the statute requires.

## 

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### 1.0 Legal Standard

Under Nevada's Anti-SLAPP statute, if a lawsuit is brought against a defendant based upon the exercise of its First Amendment rights, the defendant has substantive immunity from suit unless the plaintiff can meet the burden required under the statute. Evaluating the Anti-SLAPP motion is a two-step process. The Movant bears the burden on the first step, and the Non-Moving party bears the burden on the second. *See John v. Douglas County Sch. Dist.*, 125 Nev. 746, 754 (Nev. 2009).

NRS 41.660(3) provides that when a defendant files an Anti-SLAPP motion,

the court shall ... [d]etermine whether the moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern.

NRS 41.637 establishes four categories of communications protected by the statute. The relevant category here is a "[c]ommunication made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum ... which is truthful or is made without knowledge of its falsehood." NRS 41.637(4).

An Anti-SLAPP motion is treated as a motion for summary judgment. *See Stubbs v. Strickland*, 297 P.3d 326, 329 (Nev. 2013). And like a motion for summary judgment, the granting or denial of an Anti-SLAPP motion is reviewed *de novo. See John v. Douglas Cnty. School Dist.*, 125 Nev. 746, 753 (Nev. 2009).<sup>2</sup>

In interpreting its Anti-SLAPP statute, Nevada courts look to the wealth of California case law interpreting that state's statute. *See John*, 125 Nev. at 756 (stating that "we consider California caselaw because California's anti-SLAPP statute is similar in purpose and language to Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute"); *see also Shapiro v. Welt*, 389 P.3d at 268 (same); *and see* NRS 41.665 (defining the plaintiff's prima facie evidentiary burden on second prong in terms of California law.)

An Anti-SLAPP movant does not carry a heavy burden in satisfying the first prong of an Anti-SLAPP motion. He does not need to "establish [that his] actions are constitutionally protected under the First Amendment as a matter of

A recent decision from this Court found that the applicable standard of review is abuse of discretion, but that is not the case here. *Shapiro v. Welt*, 389 P.3d 262 (Nev. 2017) found that, under the 2013 version of the Anti-SLAPP statute, abuse of discretion was the proper standard of review. It expressly did so, however, because that version of the statute required a defendant opposing the motion to show by *clear and convincing evidence* a probability of prevailing on its claims. *See id.* at 266. In 2015, the statute was revised to decrease this evidentiary burden to the summary judgment-like *prima facie* standard. Since this burden is essentially the same as it was before the 2013 revisions, *de novo* is the proper standard of review here.

law." Fox Searchlight Pictures, Inc. v. Paladino, 89 Cal. App. 4th 294, 305 (2001). Rather,

a court must generally presume the validity of the claimed constitutional right in the first step of the anti-SLAPP analysis, and then permit the parties to address the issue in the second step of the analysis, if necessary. Otherwise, the second step would become superfluous in almost every case, resulting in an improper shifting of the burdens.

Chavez v. Mendoza, 94 Cal. App. 4th 1083, 1089 (2001). That discussion is reserved for the second prong of the analysis. See Wallace v. McCubbin, 196 Cal. App. 4th 1169, 1195 (2011).

## 2.0 Mr. Coker's Conduct Was in Direct Connection with an Issue of Public Interest

Under the first prong of the Anti-SLAPP analysis, courts do not look to the particular cause of action pled by the plaintiff, but rather looks to whether the suit is based on expressive conduct. *See Church of Scientology v. Wollersheim*, 42 Cal. App. 4th 628, 652 (1996) (holding that, with an Anti-SLAPP motion, the "nature or form of" the action is "not what is critical but rather that it is against a person who has exercised certain rights"). Courts typically look to "the 'gravamen or principal thrust' of the plaintiff's claims." *In Re Episcopal Church Cases.*, 45 Cal. 4th 467, 477 (2009). A defendant may take advantage of the Anti-SLAPP statute if the "defendant's conduct underlying the plaintiff's cause of action" was "*itself*" expressive. *City of Cotati v. Cashman*, 29 Cal. 4th 69, 78

(2008) (emphasis original). While Appellee's claims are styled as RICO and deceptive trade practices claims, this is unimportant; they are still targeted at the expressive conduct of distributing artistic works.

#### 2.1 Dissemination of Artistic Works is Expressive Conduct

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