IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DARRELL T. COKER,

Supreme Court No. 71317

Electronically Filed

Defendant/Appellant,

May 04 2018 03:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

Appeal from

Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. A-16-724853-C

DEPT. XXVIII

Eighth Judicial District

MARCO SASSONE,

VS.

Plaintiff/Respondent.

On Appeal from a Final Judgment Of the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada

RESPONDENT MARCO SASSONE'S ANSWERING BRIEF

GENTILE CRISTALLI MILLER ARMENI SAVARESE DOMINIC P. GENTILE

Nevada Bar No. 1923

Email: dgentile@gcmaslaw.com

CLYDE DeWITT

Nevada Bar No. 9791

Email: cdewitt@gcmaslaw.com

LAUREN E. PAGLINI

Nevada Bar No. 14254

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

 \boldsymbol{A} .

Defendant Coker's analysis of the applicable standard of review, to the extent he has articulated one, misses the mark because summary-judgment procedure no longer applies to an anti-SLAPP motion and has not since the 2013

Notice of Appeal was filed August 30, 2017, Document No. 17-29126 in this court after the August 23, 2017 Notice of Ruling. App. Appx., Vol. I, 327-36. *See* NEV. R. APP. PROC. 4(a)(1).

amendment of the anti-SLAPP law. Rather, because the statute has wholly changed the respective burdens of proof, different standards of review apply: mixed question of fact and law as to the first prong of the statutory standard; and the substantial evidence standard as to the second.

B.

As to the merits, upon the filing of Defendant Coker's anti-SLAPP motion, the applicable statute⁸ put him to the burden of "establish[ing], by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." The district court justifiably found that Defendant Coker had failed in that burden.

In a nutshell, the complaint charged that Defendant Coker had sold a series of counterfeit lithographs that he falsely claimed were originals by Plaintiff Sassone, a famous and successful artist. Those fraudulent sales, the complaint charges, form the basis for Deceptive Trade Practice and RICO violations.

In response to the anti-SLAPP motion, Plaintiff Sassone established and Defendant Coker admitted that he had sold the subject fine art items. Plaintiff Sassone, the artist, identified the materials as counterfeit (something that would be obvious to anyone), including because they were advertised as lithographs, an art

NEV. REV. STAT. § 41.660.

⁹ *Id.* at subsection 3(a).

form that he had never used. Worse, Defendant Coker was typically including fake certificates of authenticity. Defendant Coker (a convicted art-fraud felon) doubtfully claimed that he had purchased the items from some vaguely identified "bulk art supplier."

Given the above, it is no surprise that the district court found that Defendant Coker's side of the story was not sufficient to shoulder his preponderance-of-the-evidence burden of proof; and it denied the motion on that basis. Accordingly, the district court correctly found no need to reach the second inquiry, involving whether the plaintiff sufficiently established a probability of prevailing. ¹⁰

Judge Bare exactly adhered to the statutory requirements, reaching the result that the evidence patently compelled. His order should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Defendant Coker's analysis of the standard of review is incorrect in urging that *de novo* review is appropriate. Correctly, the standard is that of a mixed question of law and fact, as explained more fully below.

As Defendant Coker correctly observes, the new version of Nev. Rev. STAT. § 41.660 (the "anti-SLAPP law) enacted in 2015 applies to this 2017 ruling in connection with a 2016 complaint.¹¹ However, Defendant Coker misses the mark

Id. at subsection 3(b). The statute specifically directs that if the defendant fails to meet the preponderance-of-the-evidence burden articulated in subsection 3(a) that the motion must be denied without any further proceedings.

¹¹ App. Brief, p. 11, n.2.

in contending that *de novo* review applies.

As originally written, the relevant section of the anti-SLAPP law did not include the special motion to dismiss or the summary judgment standard. 1993 Nev. Laws p. 2848-49. In 1997, the following language concerning the summary judgment standard was added:

- "3. If a special motion to dismiss is filed pursuant to subsection 2, the court shall:
 - "(a) Treat the motion as a motion for summary judgment;
 - "(b) Stay discovery pending:
 - "(1) A ruling by the court on the motion; and
 - "(2) The disposition of any appeal from the ruling on the motion; and
 - "(c) Rule on the motion within 30 days after the motion is filed.
- "4. If the court dismisses the action pursuant to a special motion to dismiss filed pursuant to subsection 2, the dismissal operates as an adjudication upon the merits. . . ."

1997 Nev. Laws 1997, Ch. 387, § 6 (Emphasis added.).

That portion of the statute now provides,

- "3. If a special motion to dismiss is filed pursuant to subsection 2, the court shall:
 - "(a) Determine whether the moving party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern;
 - "(b) If the court determines that the moving party has met

the burden pursuant to paragraph (a), determine whether the plaintiff has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim;"

2015 Nev. Laws, Ch. 428 § 13 and 2013 Nev. Laws, Ch. 176 § 3.

The current statute neither expressly (as it previously did) nor implicitly directs the court to apply summary judgment standards. Thus, Defendant Coker's contention that "[a]n Anti-SLAPP motion is treated as a motion for summary judgment," App. Brief p. 11, 1-5, is inaccurate; and the *Stubbs* and *John* cases cited in support of Appellant's erroneous assertion have been legislatively overruled.

As to the first prong of the test, then, addressed to the issue of whether the moving defendant has established anti-SLAPP standing "by a preponderance of the evidence," it should be a mixed question of law and fact. The appellate court's review of a district court's decision as to a mixed question of law and fact is appropriate where the district court's determination is based on factual conclusions but requires distinctively legal analysis. *Hernandez v. State*, 124 Nev. 639, 646, 188 P.3d 1126 (2008). In reviewing a mixed question of law and fact, an appellate court gives deference to the district court's findings of fact but independently reviews whether those facts satisfy the applicable legal standard. *Id.* at 647.

As to the second prong, which the court need not reach, the standard of review as to "whether the plaintiff has demonstrated with prima facie evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim," the substantial evidence test should apply.

Substantial evidence is evidence that "a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *State Emp't Sec Dep't v. Hilton Hotels*, 102 Nev. 606, 608, 729 P.2d 497 (1986). A decision that is not supported by substantial evidence is arbitrary and capricious. *See id.* Put differently, "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable person could accept as adequately supporting a conclusion." *Vredenburg v. Sedgwick CMS*, 124 Nev. 553, 557, n.4 188 P.3d 1084, 1088 (2008), citing *Manwill v. Clark Cty.*, 123 Nev. 238, 242, n.4, 162 P.3d 876 (2007), in turn citing *Ayala v. Caesars Palace*, 119 Nev. 232, 235, 71 P.3d 490 (2003).

THE COURT'S RULING ON THE ANTI-SLAPP MOTION

If there were ever a case where the appellant has unreasonably bombarded the court with irrelevant information, this is it. On the last seven pages of the second volume of the appendix (App. Appx., Vol. II, pp. 330-36), finally appears the order from which this appeal is taken – after scores of pages of irrelevant materials such as the unsuccessful effort to remove the case, and more.

In any event, the District Court's ruling on the anti-SLAPP motion in a nutshell found that Defendant Coker failed in his burden with respect to the first prong and, accordingly, found no need to consider the second prong:

"Regarding Defendant's Motion to Dismiss per NRS 41.660 and joinders thereto, this Court finds that the Defendants have failed to meet their burden. NRS 41.660(3)(a) provides that, upon a special motion to dismiss, the Court shall "[d]etermine whether the moving

party has established, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.637 requires said good faith communication[s] to be truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. Here, the allegations that are the basis of this lawsuit are that Defendants were engaged in a criminal enterprise creating fraudulent copies of his paintings, forging his signature on those copies, forging certificates of authenticity, and then misrepresenting to the public that they were original. When bringing an Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss pursuant to NRS 41.660, it is the Defendants' burden to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that their conduct was a good faith communication that was either truthful or made without knowledge of its falsehood. Defendants have not met that burden. Given that the Defendants failed to meet the first element of this analysis, the burden does not shift to the Plaintiff, and the Court need not evaluate whether the Plaintiff has shown a probability of prevailing on the claim. Thus, both Motions to Dismiss and their respective Joinders are denied."

App. Appx., Vol. II, pp. 330, 332-33.

DISCUSSION

 \boldsymbol{A} .

WHAT THIS CASE IS AND IS NOT ABOUT

It is axiomatic that deceptive advertising is not protected by the First Amendment.¹² Defendant Coker does not and could not claim otherwise. And

E.g., In re R. M. J., 455 U.S. 191, 203, 102 S. Ct. 929, 937, 71 L. Ed. 2d 64 (1982) ("Truthful advertising related to lawful activities is entitled to the protections of the First Amendment. But when the particular content or method of the advertising suggests that it is inherently misleading or when experience has proved that in fact such advertising is subject to abuse, the States may impose appropriate restrictions."); Am. Meat Inst. v. U.S. Dep't of Agric., 760 F.3d 18, 39 (D.C. Cir. 2014) "[T]the First Amendment does not shield deceptive, false, or

deceptive advertising is what this case is about. It is immaterial that Defendant Coker was selling fake fine art; it were his misrepresentations about it that form the gravamen of this case. If he had said truthfully that he was selling mere photocopies, there would be no case.

B.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The district court had before it facts sufficient to compel the finding that it made; and finding otherwise could not have been justified finding otherwise. The evidence before the district court, to which there were no objections, ¹³ was as follows:

i.

This case pitted Plaintiff Sassone, a world-renowned artist who produces oil paintings and serigraphs in limited numbers, App. Appx., Vol. I, p. 150, against

⁽continued)

fraudulent speech that proposes a commercial transaction."); *Commodity Trend Service, Inc. v. Commodity Futures Trading Commission*, 233 F.3d 981, 993 (7th Cir. 2000) ("Misleading or deceptive advertising may be prohibited in addition to fraudulent commercial speech."), collecting cases.

Thus, evidentiary objections obviously are waived. *E.g.*, "[Party] waived these evidentiary objections by failing to raise them during the proceedings below. *See Guy v. State*, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 584 (1992) (refusing to consider hearsay arguments on appeal that were not raised below); accord *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) ('A point not urged in the trial court . . . is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal."). *Estate of Adams By & Through Adams v. Fallini*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 81, 386 P.3d 621, 626 (2016).

Defendant Daniel Coker, a felon who, before the events underlying this action, had been convicted of art counterfeiting.¹⁴

In October 2014, Plaintiff Sassone learned that his art was being offered for sale through internet auction sites. such as Icollector.com and LiveAuctioneers.com, as "Original, Signed Lithographs with a Certificate of Authenticity." App. Appx., Vol. I, p.150. Because Plaintiff Sassone had never produced lithographs, he immediately recognized them as counterfeits. Id. Worse, he learned that the lithographs were being offered at a very low price – far below the market value of his authentic works. *Id.* All of the counterfeit items listed were identified as an "ORIGINAL SIGNED LITHOGRAPH BY ARTIST MARCO SASSONE." Id.

In 1979, Plaintiff Sassone's work had been depicted in a monograph book entitled, SASSONE. *Id.* That is significant because a number of the above-referenced listings were so carelessly produced that the page numbers of the monograph from which they were copied appeared on the pictures listed. *Id.*

Obviously concerned about the damage to his reputation and to the value of his art works that would be occasioned by flooding the market with counterfeits of

More specifically, Coker was convicted of Fraud and Racketeering arising from a large art counterfeit fraud in the State of Florida. App. Appx., Vol. I, p. 175-76. As a result, he was sentenced to serve a term of sixty months in Florida State Prison and ordered to pay restitution to victims not to exceed \$165,000.00 and prohibited from participating in any "illegal auctions." App. Appx., Vol. I, pp.179-196.

his works – especially, as noted, because he sold them in limited numbers – Plaintiff Sassone enlisted four acquaintances to make controlled purchases of some of the counterfeits, allowing him an opportunity to inspect them. *Id*.

Each of the four of them made what might be termed an "undercover" purchase from either *ICollectors.com* or *LiveActuioneers.com* of what was advertised as an "Original Signed Lithograph by Artist Marco Sassone" or something akin to that; all of them received counterfeits; and three of them were furnished with a "Certificate of Authenticity," boviously bogus because Plaintiff Sassone never made a lithograph. App. Appx., Vol. I, p.150.

Defendant Coker's side of the story is found in a two-page declaration and is worth reading. App. Appx., Vol. II, p. 231-32.

First, he says, "Regarding the lithographs at issue in this case, I bought all of these copies of the paintings from a bulk art supplier named Michael Schofield. [¶] I never personally created any of the copies of any of the works in question. [¶] . . . [¶] I admit that I sold these copies. However, I did not think that doing so would be an issue because I thought the reproductions that I bought from the bulk supplier were legitimate or otherwise legal to buy and sell." *Id.*,

Declarations of each of the four "undercover shoppers" establish the particulars of his or her purchase: Collin Clark, App. Appx., Vol. I, pp. 158-60; Jelena Popovic, App. Appx., Vol. I, pp. 163-64; Diane Nelson-Menniger, App. Appx., Vol. I, pp. 167-68; and Sarah Burton-Sosa, App. Appx., Vol. I, pp. 171-72.

To attempt to bolster his story, Defendant Coker adds, "I have copies of the canceled checks I used to pay Mr. Schofield for the copies of these paintings, they are attached as *Exhibit 1*." *Id.* (Emphasis in the original.). However, what as attached was not canceled checks; rather it was four pages of copies of check stubs and carbon copies of checks; and not all were written to Michael Schofield. App. Appx., Vol. II, pp. 233-37.

ii.

Notably, because Defendant Coker admitted selling the subject works of art that were advertised as "originals" (that, in fact, were counterfeit), he is bound by that admission. *E.g.*, *Kula v. Karat*, Inc., 91 Nev. 100, 105, 531 P.2d 1353, 1356 (1975) (Appellant is bound by admission contained in his pleadings.).

Beyond that, however, it is no wonder that the court declined to buy Defendant Coker's story. Not only is he a convicted felon, which certainly impacts negatively on his credibility in general;¹⁶ it does so even more so where it is a conviction for the same kind of scam involved in this case. And one would think

E.g., Branch v. State, 408 P.3d 563 (Nev. 2018) ("Under NRS 50.095, "[e]vidence of a prior conviction may be admitted for the purpose of impeachment if the conviction involved a sentence of death or imprisonment for more than one year, and the conviction is not more than ten years old."); Warren v. State, 121 Nev. 886, 896, 124 P.3d 522, 529 (2005) (NRS 50.095 does not limit impeachment to only evidence of felonies relevant to truthfulness or veracity."). It is also admissible pursuant to NRS 48.045(2) because the conduct is identical. On appeal, Defendant Coker makes much of the fact that the conviction is over ten years old. The time to do that would have been at the district court.

that more could be told about Mr. Schofield than vaguely that he is a "bulk art supplier."

Therefore, there is no reason that this court should not afford the required deference to the district court in its fact finding.

C.

ARGUMENT

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